
 

TOWN OF SOUTHERN SHORES  

TOWN COUNCIL WORKSHOP MEETING 
5375 N. Virginia Dare Trail, Southern Shores, NC  27949 

Phone 252-261-2394 / Fax 252-255-0876 
www.southernshores-nc.gov 

PITTS CENTER 
Tuesday, February 21, 2023, at 9:00 AM 

MINUTES 
Call to Order 

Pledge of Allegiance 
Moment of Silence 

Present 
Mayor Elizabeth Morey 
Mayor pro tem Matt Neal 
Council Member Leo Holland 
Council Member Mark Batenic 

 
Amendments to / Approval of Agenda 
Council Member Holland recommended moving the closed session to the first item of business. 
Council Member Holland moved to have the closed session moved to the start of the business items 
and approve the agenda as amended, Seconded by Council Member Batenic. Motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
Closed Session 
Council Member Holland moved to go into Closed Session pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 143-318.11(a)(5) and 
N.C.G.S. § 143-318.11(a)(3), Seconded by Council Member Batenic. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Upon returning to open session and taking no action, Mayor Morey opened public comment.  
 
Public Comment 
None 

 

Business Items 

    1.    Budget Amendment #21-Record Donation Given to Police Department 

Mayor pro tem Neal moved to approve Budget Amendment #21 a $500 donation given to the Police 
Dept., Seconded by Council Member Holland. The motion passed unanimously. 

         

    2.     Public Works Building Improvements & Budget amendment #22 

Public Works Director David Bradley provided a summary of bids received for improvements to the 
Public Works building. The agenda summary read as, the Town tasked Florez Design Studios with 
drawing plans for upgrades at the Public Works building. The upgrades will address some safety 
concerns as well as some comfort and growth needs. Two major safety concerns in the shop are that of 
exhaust fumes from equipment and high temperatures in the summer months. Equipment that is 
stored inside the shop routinely fills the office and bathroom with harmful exhaust fumes when 



starting to begin work for the day. Garage doors are opened, and fans are used to help remove the 
fumes from the building. These measures do not prevent the fumes from making their way into the 
current conditioned space. The proposed upgrades will prevent this from happening. The addition of a 
break/meeting room is also proposed in these drawings. Temperatures inside the shop regularly reach 
100 degrees in the summer months. The Public Works staff currently take their lunch breaks in these 
conditions at the designated break area. The other alternative to escaping the heat is to sit in a running 
truck to take their breaks. This proposed new space with allow staff to escape the harsh conditions of 
the shop to have a clean conditioned space to eat. This will also give the department a space for safety 
and staff meetings. Removing the current insulation and replacing it with spray foam insulation in the 
entire shop is also proposed in these drawings. This will help to control the temperatures inside the 
shop. Exhaust fans on either end of the shop will serve two purposes. The first will be the removal of 
exhaust fumes. The second will be to help cool the shop during the summer months. 

Staff sought bids from four contractors for the proposed work. Bids were due on February 10, 2023. 
Only one bid was received, staff believed it to be fairly priced. 

Base Bid: $102,810.00. 

• Add option for spray foam insulation for entire shop: $36,400.00. 
• Add option for exhaust fans: $7,220.00. 
• Add Option for attic space: $5,248.00. 

Staff recommended the base bid of $102,810.00, the add option of $36,400.00 for insulation, and the 
add option of $7,220.00 for exhaust fans be accepted.  

 

Mayor Morey inquired if this would bring the building up to code. Public Works Director David Bradley 
stated the building will be up to code. 

Council Member Holland asked if the project would have to be rebid due to the number of bids 
received. Public Works Director David Bradley stated this is an informal bid but he attempted to get 
four bids. 

Council Member Batenic inquired if the hole in the roof was repaired. Public Works Director David 
Bradley stated the roof has been repaired. 

Council Member Holland moved to approve Budget amendment #22 in the amount of $151,130.00 for 
improvements to the Public Works building, this amount includes the $4,700.00 for the work 
performed by Florez Design Studios, Seconded by Council Member Batenic. The motion passed 
unanimously.  

 

    3.     Amendment to Fee Schedule 

Town Manager Cliff Ogburn stated that the request to amend the Fee Schedule is to include the cost of 
trash/recycle replacement lids. 

Council Member Holland moved to approve the amendment to the Fee Schedule as presented, 
Seconded by Council Member Batenic. The motion passed unanimously. 

 

    4.     Budget Overview Discussions 
Town Manager Cliff Ogburn stated Town staff would like to discuss with Council budgeting items to 
begin the budget process for the FY 23-24, as well as plan for the FY 25 budget year. 
 
 



Discussion items: 
1- Revenues YTD and forecast next FY 
2- Expenditures YTD and forecast FY 
3- Fund Balance 
4- Capital Reserve Fund 
5- Capital Improvement Planning 
6- Employee pay/benefits 
7- Stormwater Improvements 

Staff would also request the Council to direct staff to initiate the bid process for street work this spring. The 
streets listed below are from the 10 Year Street Improvement CIP and include this year’s work (Year 2) and 
a portion of similar work from next year’s plan (Year 3). Combining this work should lower the cost as well 
as expedite plan completion. Funds have been budgeted for this work which can be coupled with savings 
from Year 1 which was completed earlier this FY. 

 
Town Manager Ogburn stated he would like the Council to agree to the list of streets before staff puts the 
project out to bid but he will revisit this agenda item later in today’s budget discussions. 

 

Finance Officer Bonnie Swain reviewed some of the budgeting highlights. She stated at the last Capital 
Management trust meeting they reviewed some economic activities that they expect to happen. They did 
warn that sales tax for the year is coming in under budget but for Southern Shores that is not the case. 
Overall, at the state level they said to be cautious about budgeting for sales tax next year because they are 
seeing that decline. They also said to expect higher interest rates, which will slow down the building 
permits process and sales tax collection. 

Finance Officer Bonnie Swain further stated that the CPI this year is 6.4% and all of Dare County 
municipalities are using 6.5% as a starting point for COLA’s this year. If Southern Shores does not follow 
with the minimum 6.5% then salaries will once again fall behind. 

Finance Officer Bonnie Swain reviewed the packet of the January financials revenues and expenditures. She 
stated even though they are saying that sales tax is going to be declining Southern Shores has gone up. Ms. 
Swain contributes that to the town's shared revenue percentage increasing as a result of the total levy due 
to MSDS being established. It increased from 9.19 to 11.36 for the occupancy tax. Southern Shores 



occupancy tax is up 31 percent and sales tax up 37 percent. Building permits are up 57 percent over the 
same time last year. Land Transfer is down 19% from last year, which was expected. 

Finance Officer Bonnie Swain reviewed the assigned fund balance, stating the unassigned fund balance 
changes daily and a true picture of it is captured once a year when everything is recorded. Unless things 
change drastically, there is projected to be just over 4 million dollars in the unassigned fund balance 
available for projects [this is separate from the $3 million fund balance policy]. 

 

Mayor Morey inquired about the Fire Department Line at 84%. Finance Officer Bonnie Swain stated there 
are only two debt service payments remaining for the year and that budget line will be 100% on June 30th, 
she said the same holds true for the Ocean Rescue contract line. 

Mayor Morey inquired as to vacancies in the Police Department. Finance Officer Bonnie Swain stated the 
Police Department is down two positions and that department is under budget because the bulk of that is 
salaries. 

Human Resource Officer Bonnie Swain recommended a change to retiree Insurance to help in the 
recruitment and retention of employees. The policy was last revised in 2014, and originally adopted in 
2007. In order to receive retiree insurance, the current policy has two groups; those hired after 2007 must 
work for the town for 25 years plus unreduced benefits with the retirement system and those that were 
hired before 2007 have to work 10 years with the town and unreduced benefits from the retirement 
system. 

Human Resource Officer Bonnie Swain proposed the following: 

 
A. HEAL TH INSURANCE FOR RETIREES HIRED ON OR AFTER NOVEMBER 1, 2007 
For employees hired on or after November 1, 2007, the term "qualified retiree" is defined 
as an employee who: 

(1) Retires from the Town with 25 20 completed years of service with the Town, 
will have their premiums paid 100% by the Town, employees with 15-19 years of 
completed service with the Town, will have 75% of their insurance premiums 
paid by the Town and those emplov.ees with 10-14 ears of completed service, 
will have 50% of their medical premiums paid by the Town; and 
 
(2) Retires with unreduced benefits from the NC Local Government Employee's 
Retirement System. See definition of unreduced benefits in Section F of this 
policy. 
 
A qualified retiree will have their individual health and dental insurance coverage paid for 
by the Town if the retiree elects to retain health and dental insurance for themselves 
through the Town. In the event that the Town's health insurance plan does not provide 
retiree health coverage, the Town shall reimburse the qualified retiree for monthly health 
premiums paid by the qualified retiree for individual employee only coverage. This shall 
be done upon receipt of proof of payment. The amount the Town will pay for coverage 
or will reimburse a qualified retiree for coverage shall not exceed the then current health benefit paid 
by the Town for active employees for individual employee only coverage.  The Town will pay the 
premium (as stated above), for health and dental coverage only until the qualified retiree becomes 
eligible for Medicare coverage. Upon a qualified retiree becoming eligible for Medicare coverage or 



reaching the age of 65 whichever comes first, the Town will no longer pay premiums for health or 
dental coverage of any kind. 

 
B.  HEAL TH INSURANCE BENEFITS FOR RETIREES HIRED BEFORE NOVEMBER 1, 
2007 
For employees hired before November 1, 2007, the term "qualified retiree" is defined as 
an employee who: 

(1) Retires from the Town with 10 completed years of service with the Town; and 
 
(2) Retires with unreduced benefits from the NC Local Government Employee's 
Retirement System. See definition of unreduced benefits in Section F of this 
policy. 
 
A qualified retiree will have their health and dental insurance coverage paid for by the Town if the 
retiree elects to retain health and dental insurance for themselves through the Town. In the event the 
Town's health insurance plan does not provide retiree health coverage, the Town shall reimburse the 
qualified retiree for individual employee only coverage. The Town will not pay for a plan richer in 
benefits than what is being offered for an active employee.  
The amount the Town will pay for coverage or will reimburse a qualified retiree for coverage shall not 
exceed the then current health benefit paid by the Town for active employees for individual employee 
only coverage.  
 
Upon a qualified retiree becoming eligible for Medicare coverage or reaching the age of 65 whichever 
comes first, the Town will pay premiums for a Medicare supplement and prescription plan only. The 
Town will no longer pay dental or vision premiums. Under no circumstances will the Town pay more 
than the amount the Town pays for individual employee only coverage for employees actively 
participating in the Town's health program.  
 
Dependent coverage may also be purchased but must be paid entirely by the qualified retiree.  
In the event of the death of the retired employee, covered dependents may continue coverage for 36 
months under COBRA. 

 

Human Resource Officer Bonnie Swain and Town Manager Cliff Ogburn stated if Council was in agreement 
staff would make the changes as part of the FY2023-24 budget. Council was in consensus to add the 
changes to the policy as part of the Manager’s Recommended Budget. 

Mayor Morey stated the policy was last updated in 2014 and is due for a review. 

Council Member Batenic stated it is a good recruiting tool. 

Mayor pro tem Neal stated “The Town will not pay for a plan richer in benefits than what is being offered 
for an active employee” needed to be added to section A. 

Council Member Holland asked to have a footnote in the Manager’s Recommended Budget of the policy 
changes made. 

Town Manager Cliff Ogburn once again presented the list of street staff would like to put out to bid. He 
stated It follows all of year two and incorporates some of year three. He stated he is bringing this up to 
Council  because when the bids come back it may require a budget amendment requesting to use fund 
balance to supplement what is already in the budget to pay for these streets. 



 
 

Council Member Batenic stated he though the patch on Turtle Pond was smooth and came out well, he 
questioned redoing the area. Town Manager Cliff Ogburn stated staff will take anotherr look but it is a case 
where the entire cul-de-sac should have been completed not just a segment.  

Town Manager Cliff Ogburn stated the mill and fill is going to give more miles for the money than the 
patching. 

Mayor pro tem Neal asked how much of year three was pulled into the year two plan? Town Manager Cliff 
Ogburn provided the highlighted list of streets to be included in year two of the paving project.  

 



Mayor Morey asked if there was a stormwater plan for Ninth Avenue? Town Manager Cliff Ogburn stated 
there is some shoulder work that is going to need to be addressed, a swail. 

Mayor Morey noted there will not be a bunch of patches this time, it will be larger sections of new 
pavement. Town Manager Cliff Ogburn stated it will look like the work done on SoundView. 

Mayor pro tem Neal stated it is important to keep up with th patching as it allowed us to move through 
some of these rebuilds. 

Mayor Morey asked if there was a plan for the engineer to look over the streets going out to bid? Town 
Manager Ogburn stated it is still early in the 10 year street improvemnet plan and staff is sticking to the 
plan for now. Staff will do the evaluation and oversight of the project for year two. 

Council Member Batenic asked the manager if he expected to receive multiple bids. Town Manager Ogburn 
stated he expects two bids. 

Mayor pro tem Neal asked if the bottom section of Hickory Trail needed to be touched or wait until further 
design on the intersection is done. Town Manager Ogburn stated that was a good point. 

Mayor Morey asked if staff heard any feedback from the work that was completed last year and inquired as 
to the timeline for getting the bid package out. Town Manager Ogburn stated there was an initial confusion 
of what the patching was and if the streets were completed. He further stated the bid package is ready to 
go out. 

Mayor Morey stated this street package will be easier to appreciate because it doesn’t have patching. 

Town Manager Ogburn briefly touched on some other budget items. He stated staff is still waiting to hear 
back form the Coast Gurad about the Juniper/Trinitie Bridge but he would like to move forward with some 
design and permitting work with Kimley Horn. Council will see a budget amendment for this in March. 
Surveying for the sidewalk project is complete and the engineer is working on a plan. Town Manager 
Ogburn also stated he would like to make a plan and put some money aside for stormwater projects.  

 

Mayor Morey stated it would be good to have a stormwater project list like the town has for the streets. 
She also asked if both materials (concrete & asphalt) will be priced for the sidewalks so that the town can 
get more sidewalk for the money. Town Manager Ogburn stated a proposal for the sidewalks utilizing both 
materials will be obtained. He also stated the sidewalk project would not be started until the fall. 

Council Member Batenic inquired about a status update on the Dare County EMS building at East Dogwood. 
Town Manager Ogburn stated the county is finalizing the financing and construction will follow. 

Mayor Morey inquired about Weeks Marine. Town Manager Ogburn reported that Weeks Marine is still 
planing to mobilize in March. 

Mayor Morey asked if the small sidewalk project at the Town’s Chicahauk parking lot  would be completed 
by the summer. Town Manager Ogburn stated the plan is to have it completed.  

Council Comments 

Council Member Holland requested to add a discussion for a contribution to the Wall that Heals project to 
next month’s agenda. 

Mayor pro tem Neal also requested a discussion item for the agenda, Kitty Hawk Elementary playground 
contribution request. 

Adjourn 

Hearing no further business Mayor Morey asked for a motion to adjourn. 

Council Member Holland moved to adjourn the meeting, Seconded by Council Member Batenic. The 
motion passed unanimously. 

 





 

 



 
 

 

 

 
 



 
 



 

 
 



 




